
 

 

County Civil Court: CONSUMER LAW--Florida Consumer Collection Protections Act— 
Unlike Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, section 559.72, Fla. Stat. (2010), does not 

have "cease and desist" letter provision.  Rather, court to consider if communication by creditor 

with such frequency as to harass debtor or family.  Trial court correctly found as matter of law 

that one letter from creditor is not harassment and debtor's claim cannot be proven.  Summary 

Judgment affirmed.  George Pantazis v. RJM Acquisitions Funding, LLC, Appeal No. 12-

000025AP-88A (Fla. 6th Cir. App. Ct. May 16, 2013). 
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PER CURIAM.  

 George Pantazis appeals the final order dismissing his case with prejudice 

entered on April 27, 2012.  Upon review of the briefs, the original and supplemental 
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record on appeal, and Notice of Supplemental Authority, this Court dispensed with oral 

argument pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.320.  We affirm. 

Statement of Case 

 In 2010, RJM Acquisitions Funding ("RJM") was attempting to collect consumer 

debts on three separate accounts from Mr. Pantazis.  In correspondence to RJM dated 

September 1, 2010, Mr. Pantazis stated that he "will Not pay any monies to Rjm 

Acquisitions Funding LLC., not to their affiliate companies and subcontractors."  Mr. 

Pantazis identified three accounts to which the correspondence was directed and 

concluded by stating, "If you wish to proceed with any legal action that you think is 

Warranted; I will be waiting for any response from your legal department."  Thereafter, 

in a collection letter to Mr. Pantazis dated November 3, 2010, RJM attempted to settle 

one of the accounts identified in Mr. Pantazis' September 1, 2010, correspondence.1   

 On December 3, 2010, Mr. Pantazis filed a one-count complaint against RJM 

claiming the November 3, 2010, collection letter violated the Florida Consumer 

Collection Practices Act ("FCCPA"), section 559.72, Florida Statutes (2010).  The 

applicable subsections of the statute state: 

 In collecting consumer debts, no person shall:  
 . . . . 

      (7) Willfully communicate with the debtor or any member of her or his family 
with such frequency as can reasonably be expected to harass the debtor or her 
or his family, or willfully engage in other conduct which can reasonably be 
expected to abuse or harass the debtor or any member of her or his family. 

 . . . . 

      (9) Claim, attempt, or threaten to enforce a debt when such person knows that 
the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of some other legal right when 
such person knows that the right does not exist. 

 
 Mr. Pantazis filed a motion for partial summary judgment as to the alleged 

violation of section 559.72(9) and RJM filed a motion for summary judgment as to all 

claims in the complaint.  A hearing was conducted and in a final order the trial court 

denied Mr. Pantazis' motion for partial summary judgment, entered summary judgment 

for RJM on all claims, and dismissed the complaint with prejudice.   

                                            
1
   A redacted copy of the November 3, 2010, collection letter is attached as Exhibit A. 
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 In the final order the trial court stated that there had been no violation of section 

559.72(9) based on the Second District Court of Appeal decision in Read v. MFP, Inc., 

85 So. 3d 1151 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012).  Further, in dismissing Mr. Pantazis' complaint and 

entering judgment for RJM on the section 559.72(7) claim the trial court held: 

 The letter at issue, which in and of itself is innocuous, sent by Defendant after 
receiving Plaintiff's "cease and desist" correspondence, is as a matter of law 
neither so frequent nor harassing as to violate section 559.72(7) of the FCCPA. 

 
 
 

Argument on Appeal 

 On appeal, Mr. Pantazis has conceded that the trial court is bound to follow the 

appellate court's decision in Read and does not raise an argument relating to the portion 

of the order granting summary judgment and dismissing his complaint as to any alleged 

violation of section 559.72(9). 

 However, Mr. Pantazis does contest the summary judgment entered for RJM and 

the dismissal of his complaint for the alleged violation of section 559.72(7).  Mr. 

Pantazis presents one claim: "The trial court improperly invaded the purview of the jury 

and created, as a matter of law an artificial threshold, as to what level or type of conduct 

can be reasonably expected to abuse or harass a debtor under Fla. Stat. 559.72(7)."  

(Emphasis in original). 

 Mr. Pantazis complains that the question of whether conduct is harassing for the 

purpose of section 559.72(7) ordinarily is an issue of fact to be determined by a jury 

applying the "least sophisticated consumer" standard.  Mr. Pantazis asserts that 

although the trial court may have subjectively believed the single collection letter was 

"innocuous," reasonable people may disagree with such an assessment. 

Analysis 

 In pertinent part, the Second District Court of Appeal in Read noted that the 

FCCPA is not identical to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 

found at 15 U.S.C. sections 1692-1692p.  See Read, 85 So. 3d at 1153.  The federal 

act states: 

 (c) Ceasing communication 
      If a consumer notifies a debt collector in writing that the consumer refuses to 

pay a debt or that the consumer wishes the debt collector to cease further 
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communication with the consumer, the debt collector shall not communicate 
further with the consumer with respect to such debt, except [in certain instances 
not applicable in the present case]. 

 
15 U.S.C. § 1692c(c) ("the cease and desist language").  The appellate court held that a 

violation of the FDCPA does not automatically constitute a violation of the FCCPA. 

Read, at 1153. 

 The "cease and desist language" in the federal act is not found in the FCCPA.  

Under the Florida statute, communications by a consumer debt collector must be 

evaluated to determine if the communication with the debtor or debtor's family member 

has been made with such frequency "as can reasonably be expected to harass the 

debtor or her or his family."  See § 559.72(7).  Mr. Pantazis asserts in his complaint that 

RJM's November 3, 2010, collection letter sent after Mr. Pantazis had informed RJM 

that he did not intend to pay the consumer debt constitutes a violation of section 

559.72(7).  He argues that the issue of whether the statute had been violated must be 

determined by a jury.   

 A movant is entitled to summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers 

to interrogatories, admissions, affidavits, and other materials as would be admissible in 

evidence on file show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the 

moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."  Technical Packaging, Inc. v. 

Hanchett, 992 So. 2d 309, 311 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008).  When a defendant moves for 

summary judgment the court's function is solely to determine whether the record 

conclusively shows that the claim cannot be proved as a matter of law.  Jennaro v. 

Bonita-Fort Myers Corp., 752 So. 2d 82, 83 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); see Martin County v. 

Edenfield, 609 So. 2d 27, 29 (Fla. 1992). 

 Mr. Pantazis claims that the trial court improperly invaded the province of the jury 

when it held as a matter of law that the single letter complained of was "neither so 

frequent nor harassing as to violate section 559.72(7)."  However, the Fourth District 

Court of Appeal reversed a jury's award of damages to a debtor under this statutory 

subsection and specifically held that the trial court should have granted the debt 

collector's pre-trial motion for summary judgment on the issue of whether there had 

been a violation of section 559.72(7).  See Schauer v. Morse Operations, Inc., 5 So. 3d 
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2, 5 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).  The appellate court concluded, "The telephone calls, about 

which there was no dispute, were as a matter of law neither frequent nor so harassing 

so as to violate section 559.72(7), Florida Statutes."  Id.; c.f. Desmond v. Accounts 

Receivable Mgmt., Inc., 72 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011)(holding in part that trial court 

correctly found frequency of eighteen telephone collection calls over a three-month 

period "did not rise to the magnitude necessary" to violate section 559.72(7) in absence 

of additional factors). 

 The unpublished federal opinions relied upon by Mr. Pantazis are not persuasive.  

Further, Story v. Fields, 343 So. 2d 675 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), and Kahmeyer v. Federal 

Credit Corp., 19 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 1023c (Fla. 13th Jud. App. Ct. 2012), are factually 

distinguishable.   

 The federal court opinion cited by Mr. Pantazis, Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 

F. 2d 1168, 1178-80 (11th Cir. 1985) (involving two letters from debt collector 

attempting to collect debt), actually supports the trial court's entry of summary judgment.  

In that case, after reviewing the evidence the Eleventh Circuit noted that ordinarily 

whether conduct harasses, oppresses, or abuses will be a question for the jury.  

However, the federal court affirmed the portion of the summary judgment entered by the 

trial court on the debtor's claim of harassment or abuse.  The Eleventh Circuit stated 

that review of the evidence and case law "lead us to the conclusion that, even when 

judged by the consumer protective standard we adopt today, § 1692d does not as a 

matter of law proscribe Credit Bureau's conduct in this case."  Id. at 1179-80. 

 In the present case, Mr. Pantazis' cause of action complains of a single letter 

sent by RJM after Mr. Pantazis communicated that he did not intend to pay the debt.  

We agree with the trial court's conclusion that, based on the evidence of record, as a 

matter of law the single letter from RJM did not constitute harassment under the statute.  

The trial court properly determined that the record conclusively shows that Mr. Pantazis' 

claim cannot be proved as a matter of law. 

 Affirmed. 

 DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers in Clearwater, Pinellas County, Florida, this 

16th day of May, 2013. 
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Original order entered on May 16, 2013, by Circuit Judges Linda R. Allan, John A. 
Schaefer, and Jack R. St. Arnold. 
 
 
Copies furnished to: 
 
Mark T. Tischhauser, Esq.  
Richard K. Peck, Esq.  
2005 Pan Am Circle Dr., Ste. 200 
Tampa, FL 33607 
 
Jamie R. Girgenti, Esq. 
201 N. Armenia Ave. 
Tampa, FL 33609 
 
Hon. John Carassas 


